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IN TaE MATTIER OF
EASTERN DETECTIVE ACADEMY, INC., ET AL.

ORDER, OPINION, ETC., IN REGARD TO THE ALLLEGED VIOLATION OF
‘ THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket 8793. Complaint, July 22, 1969—Decision, June 30, 1971

Order requiring a Washington, D.C., school offering courses of instruction as
private and public detectives and investigators to cease misrepresenting
that there is a great demand for its graduates, that many of its graduates
have obtained employment at desirable wages, misrepresenting the place-
ment service of the school, that the school has a shooting range, that stu-
dents will receive training in the use of handguns, and placing with any
debt collection agency any contract which ‘has been ‘deceptively procured.
The order also requires that respondents’ contract contain a notice that it
may be cancelled by a student within seven days, and also forbids re-.
spondents to deceptively induce a prospective student to sign an install-
ment contract. ’ . -

CoMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
and by virtue of the authority vested in it by said Act, the Federal
Trade Commission, having reason to believe that Kastern Detective
Academy, Inc., a corporation, and Earl M. Leven; individually and
as an officer of said corporation, hereinafter referred to as respond-
ents, have violated the provisions of said Act, and it appearing to
the Commission that a proceedmg by it in respect thereof would be
in the public interest, hereby issues its complaint stating 1ts chfmraes
in that respect as follows: :

Paracraru 1. Eastern Detective Academy, Inc., is a corpo’ration
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the
laws of the District of Columbia, with its principal office and place
of business located at 724 14th Street, NW., in Washington, D.C.

Respondent Earl M. Leven is an individual and is an officer of the
corporate respondent. He formulates, directs and controls ‘the acts
and practices of the corporate respondent, including the acts and
practices hereinafteir set forth. His address is the same as that of the7
corporate respondent. -

Par. 2. Respondents are now, and for some time last’ past have
been, engaged in the operation of a school, offering a course of in-
struction to those" seeLmrr employment as prlvate or pubhc detec-
tives, investig ators or agents. ° :

Par. 3. In the course and conduct of their aforesaid business, and
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for the purpose of inducing enrollment in their course of instruc-
tion, respondents engage and for some time last past have engaged
in the advertising of their course of instruction in newspapers of in-
terstate circulation. In the further course and conduct of their busi-
ness, respondents from their offices in the District of Columbia so-
licit and for some time last past have solicited students by means of
advertising brochures mailed to persons located in various other
States of the United States; and respondents maintain, and at all
times mentioned herein have maintained, a substantial course of
trade in commerce, as «ecommerce” is defined in the Federal Trade
Commission Act. : C

Par. 4..In the course and conduct of their aforesaid business, and
for the purpose of inducing enrollment in their course of instruc-
tion, the respondents have made, and are pow making, numerous
statements and representations in advertisements inserted in newspa-
pers and in promotional material, of which the following are typical -
and illustrative, but not all inclusive thereof: : B

'RAINED UNDERCOVER _
PEOPLE ARE ALWAYS IN DEMAND
ik * *

ey % : % *
. Male and Female Undercover

o R ~ Agents'in Demand Now .
‘Free Job Placement Service for ‘
Advanced Students & Graduates

Our Placement vServicevhas,vplaced several hundred persons: in investigative’
work in just the past year. .. N o : .
' ~ MEN & WOMEN ' '
EXCITING BIG PAY JOBS OPEN FOR
PRIVATE DETECTIVES '
. IF YOU ARE' .
= A PERSON OF .GOOD
CHARACTER - .~
+ WILLING TO TAKE TRAINING
IN YOUR SPARE TIME' e

** L% % *

Thank- you for;your. inquiry regarding our Training Program Leading to Pri-
vate Detective, Undercover _Invgstig,atorv and General Law. Enforcement Officer.

Par. 5. By-and through the use ofthe above quoted statements’
and representations, and: others of similar import and meaning but’
not expressly set out herein, separately and in.connection ‘with the
oral statéments and “representations of their employees; the respond-
ents have répresented, arid -are now representing;’ directly or by:im--
plication that:
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1. There is a great demand for graduates of respondents’ course as
detectives, investigators, undercover agents and in other similar po-
sitions and employment in such positions is available upon the com-
pletion of respondents’ course of instruction: S '

2. Several hundred persons who attended respondents’ course have
obtained employment in investigative work within one year, .

3. Completion of respondents’ course of instruction qualifies per-
sons to be detectives, investigators, undercover agents, or for em-
ployment in other similar positions at commensurate wages.

+ 4. Respondents provide a placement service which places a signifi-
cant number of advance students or graduates of respondents’ course
in positions for which they have been trained by respondents, -

Par. 6. In truth and in fact : TR

1.-There is no. significant demand for graduates of respondents’
course, whose training is limited to completion of their course of in-
struction, as detectiv‘es,»investigators, undercover agents or in other
similar positions and employment in such positions is not ordinarily
available upon completion of respondents’ course of instruction to
persons with limited practical experience. L

2. In no year did several hundred persons whe attended respond-
ents’ course obtain employment in investigative work oy in other po-
sitions for which they were trained by respondents, Respondents
have neither enrolled nor graduated several hundred students during
any one year.

3. Completion of respondents’ course of instruction does not qual-
ify persons to be detectives, mmvestigators, undercover agents or for
employment in other similar Positions at commensurate wages. Em-
ployment in the aforementioned positions is conditioned upon the
aptitude and practical experience of the individual rather than the
training afforded by respondents’ course of instruction and a sub.
stantial number of graduates from respondents’ course are unable to
obtain positions which bay wages commensurate with those paid in-
dividuals in the aforementioned Ppositions.

4. Respondents do not, provide a placement service which places »
significant number of advance students or graduates of respondents’
course in positions for which they have been trained by respondents.

Therefore, the statements and representations as set forth in Para-
graphs Four and Five hereof, and others of similar import and
Imeaning but not expressly set out herein, were and are false, mis-
leading and deceptive, .

Par. 7. In the further course and conduct of thejr business, as
aforesaid, and for the purpose of inducing the sale of their course of
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instruction, respondents have made and are now making numerous
statements and representations by means of brochures and promo-
tional materials and by oral statements of their employees, in which
the respondents have repr.esented and are now representing directly
or by implication that: - '

" 1. Respondents maintaina staff of seventeen instructors qualified
by practical experience or:training in the Army Security Agency,
District of Columbia. Courts, U.S. Supreme Court, U.S. Air Force,
Office of Special Investigations, Army Counter-Intelligence School,
U.S. Signal Corps Radio Communications, Constabulary of Great
Britain, Illinois State Security Forces, Maryland State Internal Se-
curity Police, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Washington, D.C.
Metropolitan Police-Detective Division; Départment of the Provost
Marshal General, United States Army-Criminal Investigation Divi-
sion, Federal" Burequ of Investloratlon, and Detective Burea.u-N ew
York City Police.

2. Students will be trained in: the firing of handguns on respond-
ents’ shooting range and that the respondents have student training
equipment such as polygraph instruments which the students will-be
trained to operate through practical exercise.

3. Each of the testlmonlal letters, which respondents display or
enclose with their brochure, from graduates of respondents’ course
and businesses . which have employed graduates of respondents’
course are unsolicited and unbiased testimonials as to the value of
respondents’ course.- . -

Pak. 8. In truth and in fact: :

1. Respondents do not maintain a staff of seventeen instructors
qualified by practical experience or training as represented. by re-
spondents. The number of instructors maintained by respondents is
significantly less than seventeen and respondents’ staff of instructors
is not qualified by practical experience or training in all the areas
represented by respondents. In a number of instances, instructors so
qualified had terminated their employment with respondents a num-
ber of years prior to such representations. In other instances, the
aforementioned representations were without foundation and there-
. fore false. , 4 v

2. Students are not trained in the firing of handguns on ‘a shoot-
ing range and respondents do not have student training equipment
such as polygraph instruments which the students are trained to op-
erate through practical exercise. Respondents do not operate a shoot-
ing range and the only firing done by the students during the course
of respondents’ instruction, is the firing of a pistol into an enclosed
metal box. The only instruction the students receive on polygraph

470-536—73——91
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instruments is in the form of a lecture at which time a rented or
borrowed polygraph machine is brought into the classroom but is
not made available for student use. -

. In .a number of instances, the testimonial letters from graduates
of Iespondents course and businesses which have employed gradu-
ates of respondents’ course which respondents displayed or enclosed
with their brochure, were neither unsolicited nor unbiased. In some
instances, these letters were written by respondents’ employees and
in other instances respondents induced the writing of said letters
through bargaining.

Therefoxe the statements and representations as set forth in Para-:
graph Seven hereof, and others of similar import and meaning but
not expressly set out herein, were and are false, misleading and de-
ceptive.

Par. 9. In the further course and conduct of thelr aforesaid busi-
ness, respondents through their employees have regularly obtained
potential students’ signatures on installment payment contracts
through failing to disclose the nature of ‘the 'instruments: and by
falsely representing that such instruments were non-binding enroll- -
ment. applications or that the classes were paid for on a pay as you
20 basis and the prospective students could cancel their enrollment
at any time that they chose to do so. Thereafter, when these prospec- -
tive students failed to attend respondents’ course and make pay-:
ments under the contract, respondents systematically brought legal
actions and obtained judgments against the prospective students or’
assigned the contracts to a collection agency for the bringing of
legal actions and the obtamnw of ]udorments 'walnst the prospectlve
students.’ » :

Therefore, such stmtements, represontatlons and practlces consti-
tute acts and practices Whlch were and are unfalr, mlsleadmor andv
deceptive. : : '

Par. 10. Tn the course and conduct of their ‘tforesmd busmess, and -
at all times mentioned herein, respondents have been, and now are,
in substantial competltlon in commerce, with corporatlons, firms and
individuals engaged in the sale of courses of instruction to'those -
seeking employment as private or public detectives, 1nvest1gat0rs or
agents, of the same general kind and na,ture as that sold by Iespond— ‘
ents. :

Par. 11. The use by respondents of the aforesaid f&lse, misleading
and deceptive statements, representations and ‘practicés has had,; and:
now has, the capacity ‘and tendency to mislead members of the pur-
(L(Lblng pubhc 1nt0 the euoneous ‘md mlSt‘leell behef that s'ud state- '
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ments. and. representations were and are true and into the purchase
of substantial quantities of respondents’ services by reason of said
erroneous and mistaken belief. :

- Par. 12. The aforesaid acts and practices of respondents as herein
‘xlleaed were and ‘are all to the prejudice and injury of the public
and of 1'espondents’ competitors and constituted, and now constitute,
unfair methods of competltlon in commerce and unfair and decep-
tive acts and practices in commerce in violation of Section 5 of the
Federal Tr r1.de Commission Act. : :

M?’. ])onalcl L. Bachman and Mr. Edward D. Stemmcm support— '
ing the complaint. o :
Mr. Earl M. Leven, pro se and for corporate respondent

INITIAL DDCISION BY JoHN Lewis, HEAPI\TG EXAMINER -

FEBRUAI!Y 20, 1970
QTATEIVILNT OI' I’ROCEI‘DIN(‘S

The Federal Trade Commission issued its complaint against the
above-named respondents on July 22, 1969, charging them with en-
gaging in unfair methods of competltlon and unfalr and deceptive
acts and practices, in' commerce, in violation of Section 5 of the Fed-
eral ‘Trade:Commission Act, by the use of false, misleading and de-
ceptive statements, representations and pmctlces In connection with
their’ opemtlon of a school offering a course of instruction to those
seeking employment as steCtlveS, investigators or agents. After
being served with' said complaint, respondents appeared without
counsel andfiled their answer, denying certain allegations of the
complaint and not respondlng to certain other allegations thereof.

‘Pursuant te notice duly given, a plehearlnfr conference was con-
vened herein on Septembel 16, 1969, in Washington, D.C., before the-
undersigned hearing examiner, theretofore duly deswnated to act as:
hearmcr examiner in this'proceeding. ‘At said conference respondents
were.’ qdwqed by the hearing examiner that, under the Commission’s
Rules of Practice (Sectlon 8.12(b) (i1) ), their failure to -answer a
number of the allegations of the complaint constituted an admission
thereof. Since respondents’ indicated that they were riot aware of
this‘in filing their answer, they were permitted to orally' amend their
answer by: responding. to those -allegations ‘to which they had pre-
viously made no response and by modifying their answers to certain
other-allegations. In accordance with-the examiner’s order schedul-
ing said prehearing conference, complaint counsel supplied to re
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spondents (a) a list of their potential witnesses, together with a gen-
eral statement of the nature of the expected testimony of such
witnesses, and (b) a list of their proposed documentary exhibits, to-
gether with copies thereof. A number of the exhibits proposed to be
offered in evidence by complaint counsel were marked for identifica-
tion and the respondent agreed that certain of them were genuine
and authentic. Respondents were advised by the examiner that at the
hearings to be held heréin; they would be permitted to cross-examine:
witnesses called by counsel supporting the complaint, and to call
witnesses in their own behalf. By agreement of the parties, the tran-
script of the prehearing conference was made a part of the public:
record in this proceeding, and the results thereof were emhodied in a.
prehearing order of the examiner dated October 7, 1969.

Hearings for .the reception of testimony and other evidence were
held in Washington, D.C., from October 16 to October 23, 1969. At
said hearings, testimony and other evidence were received in support
of, and in opposition to, the allegations of the complaint, such evi-
dence being duly recorded and filed in the office of the Commission.
A1l parties appeared at the hearings and were afforded full opportu-
nity to be heard, and to examine and cross-examine witnesses. At the
close of all the evidence,.the parties were given an opportunity to
file proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law and an order, on or
before November 24, 1969. On motion of counsel supporting.com-
plaint, and without objection by respondents, the time for filing pro-
posed findings was extended until December 29, 1969. Proposed find-
ings as to the facts, conclusions of law and an order were filed by
counsel supporting complaint, on December 29, 1969. ,

Although no proposed findings were filed by respondents, they re-
quested the examiner, by letter dated January 26, 1970, to. dismiss
the complaint in this proceeding for the reason that they were not
represented by counsel herein due to financial inability. Said request,
which was treated as a motion, was denied by order of the examiner
dated January 29, 1970. However, respondents were advised in said
order that they could submit a new application, on or before Febru-
ary 9, 1970, requesting the assignment of counsel, together with ap- -
propriate facts and documents to support their claim of financial in-
ability to retain counsel. No: such application was submitted by
respondents. However, respondents thereafter requested an extension
of time to file proposed findings. Such request was denied by order
of the examiner dated February 17, 1970.

After having carefully reviewed the evidence in this proceeding
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-and the proposed findings and conclusions,* and based on the entire

record, including his observation of the witnesses, the undersigned

malkes the following: . T ' : -
FINDINGS OF FACT 2

L The Respdhdents
A. Identity and Business

1. Eastern Detective Academy, Inc., is a corporation organized,
-existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
District of Columbia, with its principal office and place of business-
Jocated at 724 14th Street, NW., in Washington, D.C. Respondent
‘Earl M. Leven is an individual and is an officer of the corporate re-
:spondent. He formulates, directs and controls the acts and practices
-of the corporate respondent, including the acts and practices herein-
-after set forth. His business address is the same as that of the corpo-
rate respondent (Admitted, PHO, par. 1; Tr. 4; CX 111-A, I).

~ 2. Respondents are now, and for some time last past have been,
-engaged in the operation of a school, offering a course of instruction
‘to those seeking employment as private or public detectives, investi-
gators or agents (Admitted, in part, PHO, par. 2; CX 1, 2, 4, 6-8,
10-B, 11-15, 39, 42-73, 221-226, 229-933, 235-244, 247, 248).3

B. Commerce

3. In the course and conduct of their aforesaid business, and for
‘the purpose of inducing enrollment in their course of instruction, re-

* Proposed findings not herein adopted, elther in the form proposed or in substance,
-are rejected as not supported by the evidence or as involving immaterial matters.

? References are hereinafter made to certain portions of the record, in support of par-
ticular findings. Such references are to the principal portions of the record reled upon
‘by the examiner, but are not intended as an exhaustive compendium of the portions of
the record reviewed and relied upon by him. Although no proposed findings were sub-
mitted by respondents, the examiner has not relied solely on the proposed findings sub-
mitted by counsel supporting the complaint in making factual findings herein, but has
‘made his own, independent review of the testimony and other evidence in the record.
"The following abbreviations are used in referring to the record: “Tr.” (for the tran-
script of testimony), “CX” (for complaint counsel’s exhibits), “RX" (for respondents’
-exhibits), and “PHO” (for the examiner’s prehearing order).

°® Respondents contended at the prehearing conference that their course of instruction
‘was not offered to those seeking employment as “public” detectives, but was limited to
those seeking employment as “private” detectives (Tr. 7-9). While many of respond-
-ents’ advertisements refer to their course of instruction as being offered for “private
detective training,” a number do not use the qualifying adjective “private” and refer to
‘their training course as being in “Civil and COriminal Investigations” (emphasis sup-
‘plied) or as involving ‘‘Complete Detective Training,” and its list of courses include a
‘number in the field of criminal offenses, such as are normally investigated by public
-detectives or policemen (CX 6, 39, 42-73, 223-226, 241244, 247, 248).
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spondents engage, and for some time last past have reoularly en-

gaged, in advermsmg their ‘course of instruction in (a) newspapers.
pubhshed in the District of Columbia and distributed throughout
the metropolitan area thereof, including portions of the States of
Maryland and Virginia, (b) in the yellow pages of the telephone
directory distributed in the metropolitan area of the District of Co-
lumbia, including portions of the States of Maryland and Virginia,
and. (¢) in transit buses operating in the District of Columbia and
adjacent areas of the States of Maryland and Virginia. In the fur-
ther course and conduct of their business respondents, from thelr-
offices in the District of Columbia, regularly solicit, and for some
time last past have solicited, students by means of advertlsmo‘ bro-
chures mailed to persons located in various other States of the
United States, and by means of sales representatlves who visit
prospective students in their homes in various other States of the
United States. The volume of respondents’ advertising and solici-
tation of students through interstate media and by - vehlcles and
1nd1Vlduals traveling across state lines has been, and now is, substan-
tial. (Admitted, in part, PHO, par. 3; Tr. 10-17, 195, 202—2‘2‘2,,
224, 227-2492, 9281, 334-349, 439445, 014—-017 527-528, 567-568,.
590-592, 603 ; CX 1,2, 4-8, 10-15, 216248, 250-252) .4

C. Competition

4. In the course and conduct of their business, and since at least
July 1967, respondents have been, and now are in substantial compe-
tition, in commerce, with other corporations, firms or individuals en-
gaged in the sale of courses of instruction to those seeking employ-
ment as private or public detectives, investi gators or agents, of the
same general kind and nature as that sold by 1espondents. (T1 512,
510). L

II. The Alleged Illegal Practices

'A. The Challenged Advertising -

5. The charges in the complaint are based primarily on the :mak-
ing by respondents of certain allegedly ialse, misleading and decep-
tive statements and representations, concerning the nature and.bene-
fits of their course of instruction, in newspaper advertlsemgnts,

4At the prehearing conference rnspondents admitted the inscrtion of adver tlsement“ in .
newspapers and the mailing of brochures to students, but contended that the volome
involved was not substantial (Tr. 11). As the above record references establish, respond-
ents placed a substantial number of advertisements in the Washington Pest and/or
Washington Daily News between 1966 and 1969, and contracted for the insertion of
over 1,000 display cards in D.C. transit buses in 1967 and 1968.
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transit - bus displays and brochures distributed to prospective stu-
dents. Respondents do net dispute the fact that they made the chal-
lenged: statements in advertising, but contend.that certain of the
statements were discontinued or modified at various times prior to
the issuance of the ‘complaint herein. They also deny that such state-
‘ments were false and deceptive. :

6. Typical of the statements made by respondents in néwspaper
advertisements, transit bus displays and promotional material, for
the purpose of inducing enrollment in their course of instruction,
are the following:

A TRAINED UN DDRCOVER PEOPLE ARE ALWAYS IN DEMAND -

B. Male and Female Undercover Agents in Demand Now

C. Free Job Placement Service for Advanced Students & Graduates

D. Our Placement Serv1ce has placed several hundred pelsons in 1meshga-
‘tive work in just the past year.

E. MEN & WOMEN EXCITING BIG PAY JOBS OPEN FOR PRIVATE
DETECTIVES IF YOU ARE A PERSON OF GOOD CHARACTER WILLING
TO TAKE TRAINING IN YOUR SPARE TIME

F. Thank you for your inquiry regarding our Tlamln‘r Plogram Leading to
Private Detective, Undelcover Investlgatrn and General Law Enforcement Of-
ﬁcer

7. As noted above, respondents concede the making of the above-

~quoted statements, but contend that certain of them were discontin-
ued prior to the issuance of the complaint, »¢z., that statements “A”
and “B” were discontinued approximately two years ago, statement
“D” was discontinued three or four years ago, and statement “E”
was discontinued two or three years ago, and that the reference in
statement “F” to “Undercover Investigator” was discontinued about
three years ago (PHO, par. 4; Tr. 23-25). No affirmative evidence
was offered by respondents to establish when the use of the state-
ments in question was discontinued. However, the evidence offered
by counsel supporting complaint establishes that statement “A* was
still being used in newspaper advertisements in late 1968 and early
1969 (C}x 239, 240). Statement “B,” which is substantially similar to
statement “A, » appeared in newspaper advertisements at least as late
as September 1967 (CX ‘72%), and an identical statement appeared
in display card advertising in D.C. Transit buses until at least mid-
1968 (CX 1; Tr. 345, 349) Statement “D” was used frequently in
newspaper advertlsemel ts during 1966 and 1967 (CX 7-8, 11, i4,
221-222, 229-237). A similar statement, in which the earlier lefel-
ence to fhe number of students placed (i.e., “several hundred”) was
deleted, but in which respondents stated that “many of our gradi-
ates were placed in interesting, well-paying positions,” appeared in
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newspaper advertisements in late 1968 and early 1969 (CX
939-240). Statement “E” was in use at least during 1967 and 1968
in display card advertising in D.C. Transit buses, and in cards dis-
tributed to prospective students in their homes (Tr. 281, 344, 514;
CX 2-A, 10-B). As late as' March and April 1969, respondents
were ‘Ldvertlsmo “Detective Tralnmtr * % * for good paymg jobs”
(CX 224-926). »
B. The Replesentatlons

8. The complaint alleges (Par. Five) that thloutrh the use of state-
ments in advertisements such as those set forth above, and through
oral statements made by their employees, respondents have repre-
sented and are now representing, directly or by implication, that:

A. There is a great demand for graduates of 1espondents course
as detectives, investigators, undercover agents and in other similar
positions, and employment in such positions is available upon the
completion of respondents’ course of instruction.

B. Several hundred persons who attended respondents’ course
have obtained employment in investigative work within one year.

C. Completion of respondents’ course of instruction qualifies per-
sons to be detectives, investigators, undercover agents, or for em-
ployment in other similar positions at commensurate wages.

D. Respondents provide a placement service which places a signif-
icant number of advance students or graduates of respondents’
course in positions for which they have been trained by respondents

9. Respondents admit making the representations set forth in sub-
paragraphs A and B above, but contend they were discontinued, in
line with their assertion that statements A, B, D and B, set forth in
Paragraph 6 above, were discontinued (PHO, par. 5; Tr. 30). How-
ever, as heretofore noted no affirmative evidence as to the discontin-
uance of such statements was offered by respondents. Moreover, as
above found, the evidence affirmatively discloses that such statements
or substantially similar statements were made at least between 1967
and 1969. Respondents’ denial as to having made the representation
set forth in subparagraph C above, is based on the alleged lack of
clarity in the phrase “similar posmons at commensurate Waaes” (Tr.
32-33). However, the examiner finds no lack of clarity in the
phrase in question. The words “similar positions” obviously refer to
positions which are similar to “detective, investigator [and] under-
cover agents,” and the words “commensurate wages clearly refer to
wages which are commensurate with those paid to detectives, investi-

gators, and undercover agents. Respondents denial as to subpara-
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graph D above, is based on the alleged lack of clarity in the phrase
“significant number” (Tr. 40). The phrase obviously means respond-
‘ents have represented that the number of students placed by them is
of an order of magnitude which would be considered as substantial.
From the statement made by respondents in their advertisements
that they have placed “many of our graduates,” and that they had
placed “several hundred persons * * *'in just the last year,” is clear
that they have made the representation alleged in subparagraph D
-above. Moreover, in addition to the above-quoted statements in ad-
vertisements, respondents’ sales representatives (ineluding repond-
ent Leven himself) informed prospective students that respondents
provided a placement service and had placed many students and
graduates in well-paying positions (Tr. 311, 597, 602, 785, 847, 864,
879, 898). It is, accordingly, concluded and found that, by means of
statements in the advertisements quoted in Paragraph 6 above, and
- those of similar import, and through oral statements and representa-
tions of their employees; respondents have made the representations
set forth in Paragraph 8 above and have continued to make such
representations until at least early 1969. '

10. In addition to the representations set forth in Paragraph 8
above, the complaint (Par. Seven) alleges that respondents have
made certain other representations to prospective students in bro-
chures and promotional material and by oral statements of their em-
ployees, as follows : ' ‘

A. Respondents maintain a staff of seventeen instructors qualified
by practical experience or training in the Army Security Agency,
District of Columbia Courts, U.S. Supreme Court, U.S. Air Foree,
Office of Special Investigations, U.S. Army Counter-Intelligence
School, U.S. Signal Corps Radio Communications, Constabulary of
Great Britain; Illinois State Security Forces, Maryland State Inter-
nal Security Police, Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Washing-
ton, D.C. Metropolitan Police-Detective Division, Department of the
Provost Marshal General, United States Army-Criminal Investiga-
tion Division, Federal Bureau of Investigation, and Detective
Bureau-New York City Police. ,

B. Students will be trained in the firing of handguns on respond-
ents’ shooting range, and that the respondents have student training
equipment such as polygraph instruments which the students will be
trained to operate through practical exercise. ,

C. Each of the testimonial letters, which respondents display or
enclose with their brochure, from graduates of respondents’ course .
and businesses which have employed graduates of respondents’

A
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-course -are unsolicited and unbmsed testimonials as to the value of
respondents course.

‘11. Respondents concede the making of the statement set. forth in
‘subparagraph ‘A above, but. contend ‘that: it was discontinued around
March 1969, when they revised the brochure in which: it appeared

(PHO, par. 7; .Tr. 46-47; CX 107-A). Respondents also concede
‘having made the representation set forth in subparagraph B above,
except for the portion thereof alleging that- they would provide
practical training to students on the polygraph -instrument (Tr.
50-52). The record establishes that in their advertising and promo-
tional material respondents made specific reference to the “Lie De-
tector” as being included in the “training” which they provided
(CX 2-A, 10-B, 247-248). Respondents suggested, during the
course of the hearing, that prospective students should have under-
stood their training on the polygraph or lie detector would be lim- -
ited to a demonstration. on how it operated and would not include
‘practical training in its operation, since it takes many months of
training to learn to operate the instrument and students cannot be
tanght to operate it during the course of the two-hour lecture as-
signed to the topic. The trouble with respondents’ position is that it
assumes a degree of sophistication in what is entailed in lie-detector
training which the average student does not possess. Most of the stu-
dents had no idea until after they were registered that training on
the polygraph was limited to a two-hour lecture.. From the state-
ments made in respondents’ advertising that they would receive
“training” on the “Lie Detector” and from oral statements of re-
spondents’ sales representatives most students were under the im-
pression that they would receive practical training in how to operate
the polygraph (Tr. 302, 312, 484, 491, 842, 849).° While respondents
denied having made the replesentatlon set forth in subparagraph C
above, there is no dispute that the brochures and promotional mate-
rial shown to prospective students included testimonial letters from
graduates and from businesses which employed graduates of re-

5 Qeveral witnesses called by respondents testified either that they were not told they
would be taught how to operate the polygraph instrument, or that respondents’ repre-
sentative told them the course would be a “cursory” one in which they would merely
observe how the instrument operated (Tr. 1057, 947, 965, 992, 1022-23). The testimony
of these witnesses is of little probative value insofar as contradicting the testimony of
other witnesses to whom contrary oral representations were made. Moreover, it is of no
value insofar as contradicting the express representation made in respondents’ advertise-
ments that students would receive training on the lie detector. Where the impression
created by an advertisement is deceptive, the fact that an oral explanation 1s later given
does not cure the initial deception. Federal Trade Commission v. Carter Products, Inc.,
186 F. 2d 821 (7th Cir. 1951).
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spondents’ course (CX 23-38; Tr. 426, 528, 532, 766, 768, 850; 880,
898), Whether it was affirmatively represented to prospective stu-
dents or not, it is clear that in the context in' which. the ‘letters were
exhibited to such persons, for the purpose of inducing them to enroll
in respondents’ school, they had every right to infer, and there is af-
firmative evidence that they did infer, that such letters were unsoli-
cited . and. unbiased - testimonials as to the value of ‘respondents’
course (Tr. 768, 850, 881). It is, accordingly, concluded- and found
that respondents have made and, until at least recently, have contin-
ued to make the statements and representations set forth in Para-
_graph 10 above. ’ ' ‘ o
12: The complaint further alleges that, in the course and conduct
‘of their business, respondents have regularly obtained potential stu-
dents’ signatures on installment contracts through failing to disclose
‘the nature of the instruments, and by representing that such instru-
ments were non-binding enrollment applications, or that the classes
‘were payable on a pay-as-you-go basis and prospective students
could cancel their enrollment at any time (Compl., par. Nine). Re-
‘spohdents denied such allegation (Ans., par. Nine), but conceded
that there may have been salesmen who, without authorization, mis-
represented the nature of the obligation assumed by students (Tr.
66-67). The record establishes that prospective students were re-
-quested to sign a form entitled “Enrollment for Private Detective
Training” (CX 105). A large proportion of the prospective students
solicited by respondents’ sales representatives were Negroes, many
with Iimited educational backgrounds. Most of the students who tes-
tified in this proceeding did not understand that they were signing a
binding contract, but thought that it was a mere enrollment form
under which they would not be obligated to make further payment
if they decided to discontinue the course. Respondents’ sales repre-
sentatives did not inform them as to the nature of the documents
they were signing and, in a number of instances when the students
made inquiry, they were informed that they would not be obligated
if they decided to discontinue the course (Tr. 310-311, 454455,
574, 595, 770, 791, 819, 832, 852-853, 885, 899, 916). Given the type
of student solicited by respondents, the ambiguous nature of the so-
called enrollment form exhibited to them, and the failure by re-
spondents’ sales representatives to clearly reveal the nature of the
Instrument which the students were required to sign, as well as the
aflirmative statements made by some of respondents’ sales represent-
atives, it is concluded and found that respondents have regularly ob-
tained signatures on installment payment contracts through failing
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to disclose the nature of the instruments, and by representing that
such instruments were non-binding enrollment applications or that
classes could be paid for on a pay-as-you-go basis and students could
cancel their enivollment at any time if they chose to do so. :

C. Alleged Falsity of Representations

“a. Demand for, and Qualifications for E'mployment of, Respond-
ents’ Graduates ' o S -

13. The complaint contains two separate but related allegations
regarding the falsity of respondents’ representations concerning the
opportunities for employment of respondents’ graduates, viz., (1)
that there is no significant demand for such graduates, and that em-

ployment as detectives, undercover agents or in similar positions is.
not available to them upon completion of respondents’ course of in-
struction, and (2) completion of respondents’ course of instruction
does not qualify persons to be detectives, investigators, undercover
agents or for employment in other similar positions at commensurate:
wages, since employment in such positions is conditioned upon the:
aptitude and practical experience of the individual, rather than the
training afforded by respondents’ course of instruction, and that a.
substantial number of respondents’ graduates are unable to obtain
employment in positions which pay wages commensurate with those-
paid individuals in the aforementioned positions (Compl., par. Six,
subpar. 1 and 3). Respondents deny such allegations (Ans., par. Six;
PHO, par. 6). The evidence of record substantially supports the al-
legations of the complaint, as more fully found below.

14. To a major extent, respondents’ course of instruction consists
of courses which are related primarily to the field of criminal inves-
tigation and the work of public detectives and policemen (Tr.
748749, '718). Tt includes such courses as Common Criminal Offen-
ses, Homicide, Homicide Investigations, Restraint Techniques, Police
Photography, Police Communications, Safe and Loft Burglary, Nar-
cotics, M ulage and Casting, and Weapons (OX 39-73). Most of
the course .naterial was prepared by persons with a background in
criminal law, either civilian or military (Tr. 253-262). A number
of its instructors are actual or former municipal policemen or detec-
tives, or military officers working in the field of eriminal investiga-
tion (CX 111 A-F: Tr. 361-364, 801, 953). Respondents male a
caleulated effort to conduct their school in such a manner as to simu-
late that of an institution for public detectives or policemen. Its of-
ficers- and employees are given such titles as Superintendent, Cap-
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tain, Lieutenant, and Sergeant. Employees working in the office
wear uniforms and badges, simulating those of policemen. Students
and graduates receive badges (CX 111 A-F, 202 A; Tr. 303,
563-566, 1030). In some of the display material shown to students
and prospective students, respondents simulate scenes which are
characteristic of those involved in the work of pohcemen and public
detectlves (CX 16-22).°
5. For the most part, private detectives and investigators in

\Vash-ington, D.C., and the surrounding area, where most of re-
spondents’ students would normally seek employment, do not per-
form duties where training in criminal-type investigations would be
of value. Most of their work involves such routine duties as investi-
gations of credit, employment applicants, or personal injury claims,
conducting of opinion surveys, acting as store detectives or guards,
and similar work (Tr. 707-708, 627, 690). In large part, the train-
ing provided in respondents’ course would be of little value in the
performance of such work. For example, a knowledge of restraint
techniques and weapons would be of value only for those persons
who are employed: as store detectives or guards. A knowledge of the
various criminal law subjects would be of -value only in the rela-
tively few cases where a private detective is called in' after the police
have been unable to solve a crime or where, for reasons of desired
confidentiality, a particular client does not wish to involve the po-
lice. Persons who are employed to perform such investigations are
generally individuals with prior law enforcement experience, such as
with “the FBI or as public detectives (Tr. 621-623, 687-690,
T07-711, T48-752). ’

16.-The credible and uncontradicted testimony of a number of op-
erators or supervisory officials of private detective agencies estab-
lishes: that persons taking respondents’ course would have limited -
opportunities for employment as private detectives, investigators,
undercover agents or in other similar positions at commensurate
wages since, (a) respondents’ course of instruction is geared largely
to the type of work performed by public detectives ,anid‘ is inade-

¢ Respondent Leven testified that such . display materlal (consisting of photographs)
was just a “glamour advertising type” which was intended to “dress up” the sales kit
of his salesmen,; but that it did not reflect the actual training given in the course (Tr.
358-359). However, many of ‘the students to. whom .such material had been exhibited
were under t'he impression that it reflected the type of ‘detectlive work for which they
would be trained (Tr. 767, 786, 897, 911-912). Many of them had the impression that
they would be. trained for glamorous-type detective work, such as that exemplified in
television programs like “I Spy,” featuring Bill Cosby (Tr. 470). Several sales repre-

sentatives testified that they used the photographs as reﬂectmf' the tvpe of training stu-
dentg-would receive (Tr: 443-444, 590-591).
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quate to prepare persons for employment as private detectives, in-
vestigators or similar positions; (b) the graduates of schools such as
respondents, who have had no pmctica,l experience, would have lim-
ited employability, and then largely in low-paying jobs such as -
conducting credit or pre-employment 1nvest10at1011s, or as ‘trainees;-
(c) graduates of respondents’ school, in particular, would not qual-
ify for employment in better-paying positions as private déetectives
and undercover agents because many of them are of limited educa- v
tional and intellectu‘ml background; and (d) to the extent a limited
number of graduates of respondents’ school would be considered for
employment ‘it “would genemllv be in such low- paylnv pos1t10ns as
store detectives or guards, or in conducting routine credit ‘Lnd ‘pre-
employment investigations (Tr. 6‘?1—630 634-636, 6614—663
665-666, 689-694, 704-707, T12-725, 7~"5°) The testimony of
these witnesses concerning the lack of employablhty of respondents’
graduates in the better-paying detective pos1t10ns is corroborated by
the evidence as to the actual employment experience of such gradu-
ates. As will be hereafter more fully discussed, the record estabhsheQ
that respondents -were able to place only a handful of their gradu-
ates, and then-generally in the low-paying positions of guards and
store detectives, for which a course of instruction such as lespondA
ents’ is unnecessary. - :

b. Placement of Respondents’ Graduates

17. The complaint contains two separate but related allegations
concerning the falsity of respondents’ representations concerning the
placement of its graduates, iz, (a) that in no year did-several
hundred persons who attended respondents’ course obtain empley-
ment in investigative work or in other positions for which they. were
trained; and (b) that respondents do not provide a placement serv-
ice which places a significant number of advanced students or gradu-
ates in positions for which they have been trained by respondents
(Compl., par. Six 2, 4). Respondents deny such allegations (Amns.,
par. Six; PHO, par. 6). The allegations of the complaint are amply
supported by the record.

18. Although advertising that its “Placement Service has placed
several hundred persons in investigative work in just the past year,”
which was later ‘modified to read “many of our graduates were -
placed in interesting, well-paying positions,” and many of. its.-stu-
dents were assured by its sales representatives that they would “ob-
tain employment upon graduation from the course (see par. 6-9,
supra), the record establishes that respondents, (a) had no organized -
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placement service; (b) never placed several hundred persons in in-
vestigative work during any one year; and (c¢) never placed any
substantial number of persons in positions: for which they purport-
edly were being trained. Respondents’ placement service consisted of
occasionally tacking. a slip of paper on a bulletin board in the
school, noting possible employment openings. No record of employ-
ment ‘openings was maintained, and no particular employee was re-
sponsible for handling requests for employment '(Tr. 292, 853-354,
424, 565, 859-860). For the most part, such openings as were ‘spo-
radically posted were for low-paying positions as guards and store
detectives, for which positions respondent Lieven conceded no train-
ing in the school was necessary (Tr. 547, 855-357, 858-860, 1043).
Respondent Leven conceded that his organization had not placed 200
students in recént years and had no recollection when it had ever
placed such a number of students (Tr. 285, 287-288). The credible
evidence establishes that ‘the total number of students enrolled in re-
spondents’ course in any one year never exceeded 200, of which only
a fraction graduated, and that the maximum number of persons
placed in any positions by respondents d1d not exceed 10 or 15 a
year (Tr.519-523,418-419).7 :

c. Respondents’ Staff of Instructors

19. As previously found, respondents have represented that they
maintain a staff of 17 instructors who were qualified by practical ex-
perience and training in the following organizations:

Army Security Agency, District of Columbia Courts, U.S. S!ipreme Court,
U.8. Air Force, Office of Special Investigations, U.S. Army Counter-Intelligence
School, U.S. Signal Corps Radio Communications, Constabulary of Great Brit-
ain, Illinois State Security Forces, Maryland State Internal Security Police,
Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Police-De-
tective D1v1smn, Department of the Provost Marshal General, United States
Army—Criminal Investigation Division, Federal Bu1eau of Investigation, and
Detective Bureau—New York City Police.

The complalnt alleges that 1espondents do not malnta,ln a staﬂ' of 17
instructors quallﬁed by practlcal experience or tlalnmg, as repre-
sented by them, and that the number of instructors is significantly ‘
less than 17. Further, that such instructors are not qualified by

;raining or practical ¢ experlence in the areas represented by respond—
ants (Compl., par. Lwht, 1). Respondents allege in their answer that

4 Accoriling to. respdndent Leven's own . testimony, only ‘109 of" ‘the school’s graduates
sought. asﬂstnnce in obtaining  employment: (Tr.. 960) Since the number’ of graduates
vas considembly less than® 200, it is clear that even 1f every graduate was plnced bx
responderits the number ‘would’ not approach 200. . : .
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they did “at a prior date” maintain a staff of 17 instructors, but that
they “inadvertently overlooked” changing the wording in their ad-
vertisements when their staff “waned” (Ans., par. Eight). As pre-
viously found (par. 11, supra), respondents continued to use
advertisements containing such language until at least six months
prior to the commencement of hearings herein.

20. The record establishes that during the period January 1, 1965,
to February 1967, the maximum number of instructors employed by
respondents was 11 (CX 111 A-C, 112-A)). Thereafter, the number
of instructors declined so that during the balance of 1967 and dur-
ing 1968 and 1969 the number of instructors ranged from four to
nine, with the average number teaching at any one time generally being
three or four. Even during the period when the maximum number
of teachers was employed at respondents” school, there were no
teachers who possessed practical experience ur training in:certain of:
the areas represented by respondents,: inclnding Army Security
Agency, Constabulary of Great Britain, New York City Police' De-
partment and Office of Special Investigations. When the number of
instructors declined after 1967, the remaining instructors lacked
qualifications and training in a number of other areas referred to by
respondents in their advertising. With respect to certain of the orga-
nizations in which respondents’ instructors were represented as hav-
ing practical training and experience, includin* specifically Illinois
State Security Forces and Maryland State Internal Security Police, °
the only qualified individual was respondent Leven, who during var-
ious periods between 1967 and 1969 did not perform actual teaching
duties at the school (Tr. 315, 360-364, 367, 373, 410, 461, 485, 504, °
507, 529-531, 539, 800, 953-954, 263 ; CX 202,111 A-C). -

d. Training in Firing I andguns and Use of Polygfaph Equipment

21. The complaint alleges that respondents representations con-
cerning the training they afforded to students in the firing of hand- .
guns and the use of equipment, such as the polygraph instrument, is -
false since (a) respondents do not operate a shooting range and the
only firing done by students is the firing of a pistol into an enclosed
metal box ‘and (b) the only instruction which students received on
the polygraph instrument is in the form of a lecture at which the
polygraph instrument is br. ouorht 1nto the classroom, but is not made .
available for student use (Compl., par. Eight 2). Respondents deny
such allegations (Ans., par. Eight 2). In the main, the record sup-
ports the allegations of the complaint concerning the limited train-
ing afforded in the firing of handguns, and fully supports the. alle-
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oatlons thereof concernlnfr the lack of tra.lnlno' on the polygraph:
1nstrument

92. The record establishes that a number of respondents’ students
received some oral instruction in the use of handguns, but received
no practical training in the firing thereof. In a number of other in-
stances where practical training was afforded, it was of an extremely
limited nature, sometimes involving a single opportunity to fire a
few plastic bullets at a stationary target on a limited-distance firing'
range (Tr. 314, 318, 374, 382, 409, 485, 561). According to the credi-
ble testimony of several expert witnesses called by complaint coun-
sel, the limited tninin'g' afforded by respondents is inadequate to
qua,hfy students in the actual use of handguns (Tr. 684—686 '
317-319). '

93. The record establishes that a number of respondents students
received no instruction whatsoever on the polygraph instrument.
Where such instruction was afforded, it was limited to a portion of a
two-hour lecture in Interrogations and involved a dem(_)nstratl,on‘byj
the instructor as to how the polygraph instrument operated. On oc
casion, one of the students would act as a “guinea pig,” with the i in-
structor putting him through a lie detector test. However, the stu-
dents received no practical training in the actual operation of the’
polygraph instrument. The type of instruction afforded the students
was characterized by one of the instructors as being of the “infor-
mation” or “entertainment” type generally given to club members at
a luncheon or dinner meeting. The credible testimony establishes
‘that such training is inadequate to prepare students in the operation
of the polygraph instrument (Tr. 812-313, 384 406, 484, 491492,
561-562, 612616, 856).

e. Use of Testimonial Letters

24. As heretofore found, respondents have displayed testimonial
letters to prospective students, which the latter inferred or under-
stood were unsolicited and unbiased testimonials as to the value of
respondents’ course (par. 11, supra). The complaint alleges that, in a
number of instances, the testimonial letters were neither unsolicited
nor unbiased, but that the senders thereof were induced by respond-
ents to write such letters and, in some instances, the letters were ac-
tually written by respondents (Compl., par. Eight 8). This allega-
tion of the complaint is amply supported by the record. According to
the admission of respondent Leven, and the credible testimony of
one of respondents’ former supervisory employees, a number of for-
mer students and some business firms employing respondents’ gradu-
ates were asked to write testimonial letters to the school, and in

470-536—73

52
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some instances, the letters were actually composed and written by re-
spondents (Tr. 350-352, 532-534). The evidence further establishes
that a number of prospective students were induced to attend re-
spondents’ school after being shown such testimonial letters, since
they were of the view that if other gradutes were satisfied with the
school and had been able to obtain investigative positions at good
salaries, they too could do so (Tr. 768, 850, 880-881, 896, 899).

f. Failure to Disclose Nature of Instrument Signed by Students,
and Enforcement T hereof

95. As herctofore found, respondents regularly obtained poténtial
students’ signatures on installment contracts. Such contracts were
designated “Enrollment for Private Detective Training.” The record
also establishes that prospective students were not informed that
such forms were actually installment payment contracts and that, in
some instances, respondents’ sales representatives informed propec-
tive students they would not be bound by the contracts if they de-
cided not to take, or to discontinue, respondents’ course. Most stu-
dents were not aware that they were signing a binding contract, and
were under the impression that the only penalty they would sustain
by failing to take or continue the course was the loss of any deposit
or installments which they had paid (par. 12, supra). In the actual
fact, when students who had signed the so-called enrollment form
failed to attend class and continue installment payments, respond-
ents undertook to enforce payment. It did this, initially, by inform-
ing students of their legal obligation, and therafter by turning the
matter over to a collection agency which sent a series of so-called
dunning letters to the students. When payment was not forthcoming
after such efforts, suits on the enrollment contracts were brought in
the courts of the District of Columbia and judgments were obtained.
When such judgments were not paid, or a settlement made, garnish-
ments of the students’ salaries were obtained (CX 212-214; Tr. 388,
774, 822, 838, 857, 890, 905).

D. Effect of Practices

26. It is concluded and found, from the record as a whole, that
the use of respondents of the aforesaid false, misleading and decep-
tive statements, representations and practices had the capacity and
tendency to mislead members of the purchasing public into the ervo-
neous and mistaken belief that said statements and representations
were true, and into the purchase of substantial quantities of re-
spondents’ services by reason of said erroneocus and mistaken belief.
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E. Alleged Discontinuance

27. Respondents contended at the prehearing conference that cer<
tain, but not all, of the representations made by them in advertising’
and by other means had been discontinued at various periods of
from two to four years prior to the inception of this proceeding. As
heretofore noted, despite some' modifications respondents continued
to make use of most of the advertisements until at least early 1969.
Moreover, respondents continued to maintain, and still maintain,
their basic method of operation without major change. They still
seek to induce students to take a course of instruction to become pri-
vate detectives at high-paying salaries. Many of such students lack
the basic educational qualifications and aptitude to take such a
course. Moreover, the course of instruction itself is not calculated to
_prepare such students for detective positions of the type which they
have been led to believe they can obtain by taking such course. The
best most of them could achieve if they completed respondents’
course of instruction would be employment as store detectives and
guards, in which their compensation would not be much of an im-
provement, if any, over their former earnings, and for which posi-
tions a course such as respondents’ is unnecessary.® Accordingly, it is
concluded and found that any changes which respondents have made
in their advertising program involves incidental matters and that
their basic appeal and approach to prospective students remain un-
changed.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Respondents were, at all times material herein, engaged in sub-
stantial business intercourse, in commerce, and maintained a substan-
tial course of trade in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the
Federal Trade Commission Act.

2. Said respondents were, at all times material herein, in substan-
tial competition with other corporations, firms and individuals in
commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade Commis-
sion Act.

3. The acts and practices of respondents, as hereinabove found,
were all to the prejudice and injury of the public and of said re-

8 As previously found, many of respondents’ students are Negroes, a2 number of whom
have limited educational backgrounds and aptitude for detective work. Many of them
are employed in the construction field where their compensation averaged around
$150-$200 weekly. They looked upon respondents’ course as offering them an opportu-
nity to do exciting detective work at high-paying salaries, whereas the best they could
hope for if they completed respondents’ course would be employment in the routine job
of store detective or guard, at remuneration of from $2 an hour to $125 a week (Tr.
470-471, 629, 664-665, 693, 713, 755, 779, S09-810, S44, 875).
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spondents’ competitors, and constituted unfair methods of competi-
tion, in commerce, and unfair and deceptive acts and practices, in
commerce, in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commis-
sion Act. S

4. The Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this
proceeding and of the respondents, and this proceeding is in the
public interest.

ORDER

‘
¥

‘1t +s ordered, That respondents Fastern Detective Academy, Imc.,
“a corporation, and its officers, and Earl M. Leven, individually and
_as an officer of said corporation, and respondents’ agents, representa-
‘tives and employees, directly or through any corporate or other: de-
vice; in connection with the advertising, offering for sale, sale or dis-
‘tribution of any course of instruction or any other ‘service: or
product, in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade:
Commission Act, do forthwith cease and desist from:

1. Representing, directly or by implication, that there is a

great demand for individuals who have completed respondents’

" course of instruction as detectives, investigators, undercover

agents or in other similar positions, or that employment in such

positions is available upon completion of respondents’ course of

instruction; or misrepresenting, in any manner, the demand or

. opportunities for employment of individuals who complete any
course of instruction. o

9. Representing, directly or by implication, that several

. hundred. persons who attended respondents’ course obtained em-

. ployment in investigative work or in any other position within

one year; or otherwise misrepresenting the number of persons

attending any course who have obtained employment through

the training afforded, or the nature of such employment.

3. Representing, directly or by implication, that persons who
complete respondents’ course of instruction ave thereby qualified
for employment as detectives, investigators, undercover agents
or in any other similar position; or otherwise misrepresenting
the positions for which the graduates of any course will qualify.

4. Representing, directly or by implication, that persons who
complete respondents’ course of instruction will thereby be qual-
ified for employment at wages commensurate with those paid
detectives, investigators or undercover agents; or otherwise mis-
representing the wages or compensation available to graduates
.of any course of instruction. '
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5. Representing, directly or by implication, that respondents
provide a placement service which places a significant number
of graduates or students in positions for which they have been
trained by respondents; or misrepresenting, in any manner,
their capabilities or facilities for assisting graduates or students
of any course in finding employment, or the assistance actually
afforded graduates in obtaining employment.

6. Representing, directly or by implication, that respondents
maintain a staff of seventeen instructors, or that the staff of in-
structors maintained by respondents has certain experience,
training or qualifications which they do not have; or misrepre-
senting, in any manner, the number of instructors maintained or
their experience, training or qualifications.

7. Representing, directly or by implication, that respondents
operate a shooting range or have polygraph instruments, unless
such is the fact; or misrepresenting, in any manner, the facili-
ties or equipment which respondents have and make available
for the training of students.

8. Misrepresenting that students will receive training in the
firing of handguns on a shooting range or that students will re-
ceive practical training in the use of polygraph instruments; or
misrepresenting, in any manner, the nature or extent of training
students will receive. »

9. Misrepresenting that graduates of respondents’ course, or
businesses which have employed graduates of respondents’
course, have written unsolicited or unbiased testimonials.

10. Using photographs or any other promotional device to
misrepresent the training, facilities or equipment available to
students of respondents’ academy.

11. Failing to reveal, disclose or otherwise inform prospective
customers, in a manner that is clearly understood by them, of
the non-cancellable nature and of all terms and conditions of
any installment contract or other instrument of indebtedness to
be signed by any customer.

12. Inducing or causing customers or prospective customers to
execute installment contracts or any other instruments of in-
debtedness by falsely representing that such contracts, or other
instruments are non-binding enrollment agreements or that such
contracts or other instruments are cancellable at the discretion
of the prospective customers; or otherwise inducing or causing
customers or prospective customers to execute installment con-
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tracts or any other instruments by misrepresenting the true na-
ture or effect of such documents.

13. Placing in the hands of a debt collectlon agency for the
purpose of obtaining satisfaction of an alleged debt, any agree-
ment, contract or other instrument of indebtedness whmh has
been procured through any of the deceptive acts and practices
prohibited by Paragraphs 1 through 12 hereof.

14. Seeking to enforce or obtain a judgment on any contract
or other instrument executed after the final date of this order
between respondents and any party, or the transferring of any
such contract or other instrument to a third party for the pur-
pose of enforcing or obtaining a judgment on said contract or
instrument, where the respondents or their employees misrepre-
sented the nature or the terms of said contract or instrument at
the time or prior to the time the contract or instrument was
signed.

15. Failing to deliver a copy of this order to cease and desist
to all present and future salesmen or other persons engaged in
the sale of respondents’ courses or services, and failing to secure
from each such salesman or other person a signed statement
acknowledging receipt of said order.

It is further ordered, That the respondents Fastern Detective
Academy, Inc., a corporation, and its officers, and Earl M. Leven, in-
dividually and as an officer of said corporation, and respondents’
agents, representatives and employees, directly or through any cor-
porate or other device, in connection w ith tlic advertising, offering
for sale, sale or distribution of any course of instruction or any
other service or product, in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in
the Federal Trade Commission Act, do forthwith cease and desist
from: ;

(1) Entering into any contract which shall become binding
on the customer prior to midnight of the seventh day, excluding.
Sundays and legal holidays, after date of execution.

(2) Tailing to disclose orally, prior to execution of the con-
tract, and in writing on any trade acceptance, conditional sales
contract, promissory note or other instrument executed by the
customer, with sufficient conspicuousness and clarity to be ob-
served and read by such customer, that the customer may re-
scind or cancel the contract by directing or mailing a notice of
cancellation to respondents’ address prior to midnight of the
seventh day, excluding Sundays and legal holidays, after the
date of the sale.
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(3) Failing to provide a separate and clearly understandable
form which the customer may use as a notice of cancellation.

(4) Negotiating any trade acceptance, conditional sales con-
tract, promissory note, or other instrument of indebtedness to a
finance company or other third party prior to midnight of the
ninth day, excluding Sundays and legal holidays, after the date
of execution by the customer. :

(5) Provided, however, That nothing contained in this por-
tion of the order shall relieve respondents of any additional ob-
ligations respecting contracts required by federal law or the law
of the State in which the contract is made. When such obliga-
tions are inconsistent respondents can apply to the Commission
for relief from this provision with respect to contracts executed
in the State in which such different obligations are required.
The Commission, upon proper showing, shall make such modifi-
cations as may be warranted in the premises.

Orpinton oF THE COMMISSION
JUNE 80, 1971
By Jones, Commissioner:

On July 22, 1969, the Commission issued a complaint against re-
spondents Fastern Detective Academy, Inc., and Karl M. Leven, in-
dividually and as an officer of the corporate respondent. The
complaint charged the respondents with violating Section 5 of the
Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. §45 (1964), through the
use of various false, misleading and deceptive statements and prac-
tices in the course of the promotion and operation of their school of-
fering instruction to those seeking employment as private detectives,
investigators or undercover agents.

The case proceeded to hearing in October of 1969. The hearing ex-
aminer issued an initial decision finding against the respondents on
all issues and entering a proposed order requiring them in essence to
cease and desist from continuing the offending practices and to make
various affirmative disclosures about certain aspects of the instruc-
tion being offered.* :

Respondents appealed to the full Commission and the matter is
now before us for decision. Respondent Leven throughout this pro-

17The examiner’s initial decision, which was rendered on February 20, 1970, was
vacated by the Commission because of the individual respondent’s claim of indigency
and request for counsel, which is discussed more fully below ; the initial decision was
reinstated by the Commission on May 13th after respondent Leven failed to press his
claim.,
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ceeding has been represented by himself pro se and no counsel has
entered an appearance on behalf of either respondent.2 At one point
in the proceedings, respondent Leven requested the assignment of
counsel but when asked to substantiate his claim of indigency he re-
fused to press the request and continued to represent himself. In
view of the fact, however, that respondent Leven acted as his own
counsel, we have carefully reviewed the merits of the entire record
on our own, and have not confined our review to matters challenged
by the respondents on their appeal. While respondent Leven during
the oral argument confirmed that his failure to press his claim of in-
digency and his request for counsel was a matter of free choice and
asserted that he no longer took the position that he was entitled to
appointment of counsel, it will be useful to review the circumstances
mvolved before considering the merits of the charges, the evidence
underlying the hearing examiner’s conclusion of liability and the
scope of the remedial relief proposed by him.

1
Respondents’ Appearance Pro Se

Throughout all of the hearings in this case, respondent Leven ap-
peared and took an active bart in presenting documentary and oral
testimony in opposition to the complaint allegations and actively ex-
amined the witnesses offered by complaint counsel in support of the
allegations.

The hearing examiner was scrupulously careful to give Mr. Leven
every assistance he needed to facilitate- his presentation of his de-
fense and his cross-examination of complaint counsel’s witnesses. At
the prehearing conference held on September 16, 1969, for example,
the examiner proposed to respondent Leven that he orally amend his
filed answer wherever hecessary to make certain that he would not
be held to inadvertent admissions of matters he had failed to deny
in his pleading.® At the prehearing conference, the examiner also

* Apparently respondents did retain counsel during the early stages of the investiga-
tion, since the record contains a letter from an attorney burporting to represent
respondents in matters concerning returns to g Commission subpoena (CX 114A-B),
However, there is no indication in the record as to precisely when or why this repre-
sentation terminated. ) )

3 1In making this ruling the hearing examiner explalned his position In response to a
question from complaint counsel : :

" MR. BACHMAN : - .. According to his answer, he failed to deny paragraph two. At this
point are you allowing him to amend this?

HEARING EXAMINER LEWIS: Yes, I am. In view of the fact that he does not have
counsel [and] is not sophisticated in these matters I feel that it’'s my duty to assure the
respondent a fair hearing and due Process. . .. I get the impression that he was address-
ing his answer to the more or less substantive allegations, those that charge violations
rather than the . .. formal allegations and I want to be sure that he understood what he
was doing. [Tr. 9-10.]
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conducted stipulations regarding the admissibility of documentary
evidence (Tr. 84-146), during which he explained carefully to Mr.
Teven the method of introducing documents at the hearing, and
gave him ample opportunity to object.*

On January 26, 1970, three months after the evidentiary hearing
was closed, respondent Leven sent a letter to Hearing Examiner
Lewis requesting that the complaint be dismissed and asserting, in
part, as follows:

I would like to state, Mr. Lewis, that you were as considerate as possible in
my behalf to the limits of your function as Hearing Examiner. However, in
many areas I was unable to make a reasonable defense due to my lack of
legal knowledge. I believe that if I had had a lawyer in the hearings, he
would have been able to ask the right questions and made [sic] the proper ref-
erences to law which would have proved beyond any doubt that I have not vio-
lated any laws. ... )

As T was unable to buy the transecript of over 1000 pages which amounted to
almost $900.00, X had to take additional time off from my work in an attempt
to formulate my findings at the Commission’s Offices, and after a very rough
draft was made it seemed fruitless to send such a thing to the Commission,
particularly after reading the one prepared by the Commission’s attorneys. . . .

The letter concluded with a quotation from American Chinchilla®
and a request that the complaint be dismissed. Treating the letter as
a motion, the examiner denied the motion for dismissal in an order
issued January 29, but also granted Leven until February 9 to re-
submit his request for assignment of counsel, together with appro-
priate facts and documents to support his claim of financial inability
to retain counsel.

In a letter dated February 10, 1970, respondent asserted to the
hearing examiner that he had “attempted to obtain the services of

4 See, e.g., Tr. 109-110: ) v

HEARING EXAMINER LEWIS: You have a right to object to any document going
into evidence. One step in having a document received in evidence is to have an agree-
ment . . . that it is a genuine and authentic document. . . . To the extent that you are
unable to do so now and will require additional time to review the documents ... you will
be given that time. . .. If you do have objection, then we will just pass on them at the
hearing. . ..

MR. LEVEN: Right, sir.

HEARING EXAMINER LEWIS : There may be some documents that you do not ques- .
tion being genuine. . . . You may, however, question whether they should be received in
evidence because of the fact that they were discontinued or something of that sort. You
are at liberty to raise any such objections even though you do stipulate that it is an
authentic document. . . . :

Do you understand that situation?

MR. LEVEN: Yes, I do very clearly, sir.

5 The Commission’s decision in American Chinchilla, Docket No. 8774 [76 F.T.C. 1016],
holding that the Commission would not maintain an action against a respondent who
was unrepresented by counsel solely because of his indigency, was handed down Decem-
ber 23, 1969. . '






